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Introduction
	 
[image: A photo of the Forncett Village sign]       
The village sign
	.   
Forncett lies about 4 kilometres west of the main Norwich to Ipswich (A140) road. The parish comprises three “parts”: St Marys in the north linking to St Peters in the south, with Forncett End at the western edge where it merges with Tacolneston.
Under the terms of Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the Local Planning Authority is required to identify areas of special architectural or historic interest whose character or appearance it is desirable to preserve or enhance, and to designate them as a Conservation Area.


	
	The 1990 Act also requires local authorities to prepare management guidance and proposals for Conservation Areas. Forncett conservation area was originally designated in 1994. This document should be read in conjunction with the adopted Local Plan, the National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance.



Key Characteristics
A linear settlement shaped by trees and hedges 

Significant churches at each end of the area 

River valley setting, with open east aspect

Spaces between historic buildings largely infilled by modern dwellings


Historical Development (also see historic map in Appendix 4 p19) 
The village is referred in Domesday Book (1086) as Fornesseta, while a record of the twelfth century has Fornesset and one of the thirteenth century, Fornesete.  It is thought to derive Forne's saete.  Forni is an Old Scandinavian name and (ge)set or saete is an Old English word for "abode".  It certainly therefore predates the Norman Conquest.

Though always one benefice, originally St. Mary's was the "mother church", while St. Peter's Church was only a "chapel of ease" serving the outlying hamlets of Kettleton End (now Forncett End) and Swanton End or Tuantuna (now Forncett St. Peter).

After 1496, the [position of the churches was reversed, St Peter’s becoming the parish church. Both churches are now part of the 7 church parish of Upper Tas Valley All Saints.

Domesday Book refers to four vills (hamlets) within the present-day parish : the three just mentioned together with Middleton or Middletuna (now Bustard's Green).  By the early fourteenth century records refer also to the hamlets of Galegryne (in the area of Cheneys Lane) and Sugate, and there are later references to Morgate (south of Forncett St. Peter) and Lovington.

Immediately before the Norman Conquest the manor of Forncett belonged to Bishop Stigand.  It was clearly a 'grand manor", holding lands or other manors in no less than sixteen towns (i.e. villages) at the time of the Domesday Survey.  Following the Conquest, the lordship of the manor was granted to Roger Bigod, one of William the Conqueror's "attendants".  In the fourteenth century it was granted by the King to Thomas de Brotherton, from whom it descended to the Howards, Dukes of Norfolk and in whose ownership it remained till the nineteenth century.  Their manor house may have stood on the site of Yew Tree Farmhouse, Low Road, Forncett St Mary, a fifteenth century "Wealden"-type house but its location is not certain.

A series of manorial accounts and court records for Forncett have survived from the thirteenth to the sixteenth century.  In 1906, Frances Davenport used these accounts and records to give us a glimpse of the life on a manorial estate during this period.

She found that between a third and a half of the fields of Forncett were already enclosed when a survey was made in 1565.  A study carried out three hundred years later, found that many of the field boundaries still survived, their irregular alignments contrasting with the straight lines of the enclosures of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. It seemed that much of what was now no more than rough fen and carr had, in the mid-sixteenth century, been productive pasture.

The building of a main railway line in the 1840s, included a station at Forncett, to the east of the area, and gave the villagers another way to reach Diss, Norwich and even London.  Life can never have been the same again.

From 1846 to 1853 J. W. Colenso was Vicar of St Mary's before becoming Bishop of Natal, where he was known as Sobantu (father of the people).  His concern for the people led to his exposing colonial corruption and to denouncing the Zulu War.  He was also the author of textbooks on mathematics.  His Village Sermons were originally preached in Forncett St Marys.

The Church built the School at St Peters in 1848. The school is still in use as a Voluntary Aided Primary School. In the same year the Rectory in St Mary, now Forncett Manor, was built at a cost of £1394.



For many years St Mary’s Church was unused and officially redundant. But in 2009 the new owner of Church Cottage created a group which, with initial help from both Norfolk County and South Norfolk Councils, carried out essential maintenance and repairs aided by Harry Barker, a retired carpenter. The Church was taken out of Redundancy in 2012 and in 2014, the Bishop of Norwich granted licenses to enable weddings and other ceremonies to be carried out once again. The Church was back! More recent successful grant applications enabled the tower to be restored. A well- deserved Angel Award was bestowed on the Church for the best restoration project in 2015.
Further details can be found on their web site : www.forncettstmarychurch.org.uk.
There is a Village Hall at St. Mary's, housed within the former school.        

St Peter’s Church is currently on the Heritage at Risk Register, requiring over £750,000 for essential repairs and renovations to secure the fabric and provide facilities to enable the building once again to operate as a community hub. The recently established Friends of St Peter’s (FOSP) have secured grants of £28,500  and donations approaching £10,000, in advance of applying for a major National Lottery Heritage Fund Grant.  
	
The population of the parish was 723 in the 1930s falling to 660 in 1951 then recovering to 793 in 1981. In 2001 this had risen to 1000 and 1126 in 2011. Most of this increase reflects the new residential developments in Forncett End.

More information about the history of the parish can be obtained via the Forncett History Group’s web site: www.forncetthistory.net, and information about village activity can be found at www.forncett.info., which also includes a section on the churches. 
Information about the “Save St Peter’s ‘ campaign can be found at htps://forncett.info/forncett-churches/st-peter.html.
 A new book “History of St Marys Church” by Roy Tricker is also recommended.


[image: Historic photo of the Forncett village stores]
		             Forncett village stores 
		 (courtesy of Forncett History Group)



Character Assessment
(Also see Streetscape and Natural Character Maps in Appendices 5 and 6 pages 20 and 21) 

Forncett and its setting

The two settlements which make up the Conservation Area merge together along the west side of the Tas valley over about a 1km: Forncett St. Peter to the south and Forncett St Mary to the north.  Low Road follows the valley and forms the main street of both settlements.  Within the conservation area, buildings are confined to the higher, west side of the road, while the east side marks the boundary of the flood plain.  At either end, however, where the river bends away from the road, the historic settlement switches to the east side of the road and here are to be found the two churches. 

Near the south end of the area, Mill Road, climbs west from Low Road towards Forncett End, while Aslacton Road continues  to the south. At the north end, Cheney’s Lane heads west to Tacolneston. The river Tas comes closest to Low Road at Station Road which heads east towards the old station and Long Stratton.  There are good views from Low Road across the valley to the gently rising ground to the east, while the Church of St Mary can be seen in the valley landscape from Station Road.

[image: Photo with views of the village hall]
	Views of the village hall

Conservation Area Boundary

The Conservation Area was designated in 1994.  It presently takes in the linear settlement from Cheney’s Lane to Mill Road.  It currently includes mostly the developed frontages on the east or west side of the road.  At the south end, the conservation area extends to include St. Peter's Church and the Old Rectory. While at the north end, it includes St. Mary's Church, the village hall, Forncett Manor and The Croft off Cheney’s Lane.

Amendments to the area were agreed as part of this appraisal, mainly to incorporate changes in property boundaries since 1994, but also to include the copse and meadow opposite Corner and Laurel Farms. It is suggested that part of the farm land north of Laurel Farm is excluded.



Street Patterns and Historic grain

The character of the village is determined by the valley landscape : a flat flood plain running north south between gently rising ground to either side.  Low Road runs parallel with the valley just to the west of the flood plain and most of the development is one-plot deep.

The bends in the road, with trees and hedges, only enable two or three buildings to be seen at any one time in a series of individual building groups. These typically comprised a farmhouse with barn and outbuildings, separated from one another by fields, hedges and tracks. More recently, these gaps have often been infilled by modern dwellings. The character of the village is still determined more by the relationship of buildings to the landscape and trees, than to one another.  

A church stands at either end of the village, each set back from the road largely masked by trees, which limits their impact. At either end also is a large house in spacious grounds: the Old Rectory in St Peter’s and Forncett Manor (originally built as a rectory) in St. Mary's.  But again, their position and abundant trees screens them from the road. 

Perambulation

From South to North


[image: Photo showing the contemporary extension to the village primary school]		[image: Photo of St Peter's church]
    	  Contemporary extension to village 	          	 	  St Peter’s Church 
     	    Primary School with green roof                                  


Aslacton Road

The Primary School is dated 1848.  It is a good example of a typical Church School of this period, of red brick and slate with a Tudor-style doorway and drip moulds over windows.  The school has been enlarged with a contemporary extension on the east side, beyond which a belt of trees to the north of the playground. There is a good brick wall along the south side. Opposite to the west, there are long views over rising ground and open fields. 

The Church of St. Peter, The Old Rectory, Rectory Cottages

The Church and the Old Rectory are reached by an avenue, lined with fir and lime trees, running eastwards from Low Road almost opposite the junction with Mill Lane. The churchyard is bordered by trees, as is the paddock on the north side.

The Church of St. Peter, is listed grade 1. It has a Saxon round tower of the 11th century and nave, aisles and chancel in the Perpendicular style of the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries.  It is built of flint with stone dressings and roofs of slate or lead. There is an extremely rare timber staircase in the tower probably dating from the 15th/16th century. An alabaster tomb of Thomas and Elizabeth Drake dated 1485 is of note. There are good examples of Victorian Stained Glass.
Park railings and hedges enclose the churchyard. A modest car park has been formed to the left of the entrance screened from the road by a hedge. The village sign and the listed war memorial stand on the west edge of the churchyard, facing the road.

The Old Rectory is a fine brick house of the early 18th century, with two principal Georgian styled facades, one facing the avenue approach, the other, the garden.  Low outbuildings, of some interest, surround a yard to the north. Dorothy Wordsworth lived here for several years and William visited on two occasions. Rectory Cottages, set behind a good boundary hedge, were built as one house in the 17th century.  The building is L-shaped, probably timber framed with a steep roof covered with black-glazed pantiles.

A line of modern bungalows have been built on the raised bank on the west side of Low Road. The hedge boundaries, where they survive, have been set back to leave wide grass verges in contrast to the more traditional pattern opposite.


[image: Photo of Claver's Cottage]		[image: Photo of the Church Farmhouse]
  	   	   Claver’s Cottage   				     Church Farmhouse
 
Rectory Cottages to Station Road

Trees and hedges predominate. Buildings remain on the west side, while on the east, behind the roadside hedge, are the open flood plains of the river.

At the southern end, only Clavers Cottage is of note, rendered and thatched with later extensions. Church Farmhouse to the north is a fine seventeenth century house, timber framed and plastered, with a pin tiled roof, traditional windows and a substantial central chimney.  A fine group of farm buildings, in traditional design, complement the setting of the house, the ones to the rear are due to be converted to residential use. The range along the road edge particularly makes a positive contribution. This historic pattern with buildings closer to the road, has not been reflected with the later houses in the area. 

Trees have generally been retained in the fore grounds of the houses to the north, and partially screen them, although the gravel access drives, and wide grass verges, are evidence of their presence.

The early 19th century Stone Cottage attracts attention due to its pebble flints and brick dressings, which is unusual for this part of Norfolk.

[image: Photo of Stone Cottage]		[image: Photo of Bishop's House]
	  	      Stone Cottage		                                      Bishops House 
								         (photo courtesy of owner)
			
The next three modern houses, and their outbuildings, try to reflect the traditional character but their outlines and detailing appear harsh in comparison to the adjacent White House. Its main wing comes forward of its neighbour, Bishop’s House, a fine seventeenth century timber framed and plastered house with a central projecting two storey porch, and steep peg tiled roof. The crow stepped north gable is an attractive feature.

High hedgerows on either side of the adjoining track, provide a backdrop to the Bishop's House and separate it from two modern bungalows to the north, one of which has been nicely transformed into a more traditional cottage.  

The Homestead is a timber framed house of the 17th century, with later alterations and an off centre chimney stack.  It is set back from the road, and so the converted barn and single storey range along the road dominate the view, and make a positive contribution.


Station Road to the Village Hall
	
The buildings are confined to the higher west side but the views to the east are screened by willows and alders in the “copse” between the road and the river. The hedges, narrow verges and trees channel the view.

Significant works are in progress at Corner Farm restoring the building to its former character and appearance. The house is set back but its rendered walls, black tiled roof and shaped main chimney, is impressive. Its associated buildings behind make an attractive group.

Laurels Farm is another 17th century timber framed house.  It stands at right angles to the road but is largely hidden from view by hedges and trees. Farm buildings to the north survive to form a traditional group, 

From here, there are no hedges on the west side allowing views up across open fields.  A solitary tree on the bank stands out while trees beyond shield the modern farm building. St Mary’s Barn, now a house, appears at the head of the road. 

Street Farmhouse is timber framed and plastered and has a steep black glazed pantiled roof with an off centre chimney stack. A good brick wall with a terra cotta coping divides the garden from the farmyard.  Behind  St Marys Barn are modern farm buildings.


[image: Photo of Corner Farm]		[image: Photo of St Mary's Barn]
    	   	        Corner Farm					       St Mary’s Barn


North of Street Farm are modern bungalows before the road then takes a sharp “S” bend to the east.  On that side is Rattles, an attractive thatched cottage, gable to the road.  On the west side of the bend, another modern bungalow, set back beyond a wide entrance and a sweeping drive.  The garden is now open to the road: perhaps a new hedge along the road boundary would be a positive improvement?

On the east side of the bend, Blacksmith's Cottage, clad in modem fletton bricks, but is probably much older. Then, behind a high hedge and trees, lies Church Cottage, largely hidden with a small barn immediately to the north in traditional style.  

The entrance to the church is alongside the War Memorial, designed by Thomas Rayson of Oxford, and carved by Harry Parfitt of Long Stratton. It was dedicated in 1921. An iron seat offers an opportunity to enjoy this peaceful setting.

The Church of St. Mary, also listed grade 1,  was much restored in the late nineteenth century, from when the chancel dates.  It had been redundant for many years until a commendable campaign to restore it began in 2009 which has brought the church back into use. It has medieval origins, of flint with stone dressings, with a pintiled roof and a thin unbuttressed tower, Like that of St. Peter's Church, the tower of St. Mary's can be seen from a distance, while the body of the church is all but invisible.

The Village Hall, originally a school, has rendered walls and a low pitched slate roof. The rough surfaced car park in front is pleasantly informal.  It is divided from the former allotments, which are now called Jubillee Green and incorporated into the grounds of the village hall.

A high bank behind the Village Hall is planted with a variety of mature trees:  and forms the boundary of Forncett Manor, which can be glimpsed through it.  The grounds are most attractive and a perfect setting for the house itself, which was built in the late nineteenth century, in the high Victorian gothic style, of red brick, stone and slate and with tall elaborate chimneys.  It is reached by a long curving drive from Low Road. 










Cheney’s Lane

At this point, Cheney’s Lane cuts into the slope with steep banks on either side, with trees on the south side and open fields to the north. The back entrance to the Manor is marked by a high brick and flint wall and a two storey brick and slate outbuilding, both hard onto the road.  The farm buildings of the Croft, now a dwelling, are also hard onto the road.  The main block comprises a barn and lean-to of clay lump and pantiles; beyond it are stables, partly black boarded.  The Croft itself is of great interest: a timber framed building possibly dating from the 15th century. It has a thatched half-hipped roof and some original windows survive, and a large 5-light mullioned and transomed dormer window with a carved beam over. It is largely hidden from view.
[image: Photo of St Mary's Church]		[image: Photo of the village hall]
   St Mary’s Church 					      The Village Hall



Traditional Materials & Architectural Details 

	Examples of most of the building materials traditional to South Norfolk can be found within the Conservation Area.	
	
Clay pantiles are the most prevalent roof covering.  These are mostly red, but a good proportion are black or blue glazed. Red clay pegtiles are found on the Bishop's House and Church Farm, slates on St Peter’s Church, the School and Forncett Manor, thatch on The Croft, Clavers Cottage and Rattles and lead on the side aisles of St Peter’s Church.		
	
The great majority of older buildings are timber framed, rendered and painted.  The two churches are of flint with stone dressings; Stone Cottage is of pebble flints which is unusual for this part of the county. Part of Rectory Cottages, though of timber frame construction, is clad in brick. Several farm buildings (or former farm buildings) are of clay lump, rendered and painted or of timber frame clad in tarred weather boarding.  The School and Forncett Manor, both Victorian, are of red brick, with stone dressings.  Blacksmith's Cottage is probably of clay lump faced with a modern brick.

Architectural detailing

There are examples of tall, elegant and shaped chimneys, traditional leaded mullioned windows and Georgian sashes. Dutch gables adorn some of the historic buildings in the area.
	       [image: Photo of Flint at St Mary's]
                  Flint at St Marys
[image: Photo of the porch at Church Farmhouse]
         Porch at Church Farmhouse

	
	





Natural Character
	
[image: A photo of Meadow land]
                   Meadow land

[image: A photo of  St Peter's church yard]
            St Peters Church yard

[image: A photo of St Peter's Churchyard with the war memorial]
St Peter’s Churchyard with war memorial
	
Trees and hedges are an important part of the Conservation Area.  They provide an attractive setting to many buildings, help to maintain the street line, soften or mask out less attractive buildings and frame views across the valley floor.

The open spaces in the conservation area make a significant contribution. The open river meadows on the east side of the road, divided by hedges and trees. The two churchyards, the open farmland opposite Street Farm and the spacious, albeit, private, grounds of the Old Rectory and Forncett Manor.


	 
	 





Street Furniture, Walls and Railings

	[image: A photo of the war memorial]
        The War Memorial



[image: A photo of the EIIR Postbox]
             EIIR postbox
	All public roads and the drive up to the School are of tarmacadam.  The avenue leading to the Old Rectory and to St Peter’s Church, and several tracks leading to fields behind the frontage development, are gravel. Most private entrance drives are gravelled, but a few are also of tarmacadam.

There are a few notable walls or railings in the area: the section of the brick and flint wall to Forncett Manor along Cheney’s Lane is one exception. Most of the boundaries are hedged. St Peter’s churchyard has an agricultural style metal railing to its churchyard. 

There is an attractive village sign, and two listed war memorials. A small post box survives at St Marys, so too a stone marking the boundaries between the parishes near Street farmhouse. The public seats in the area are plain timber or metal versions.


[image: A photo of the gates to the old rectory]
         Gates to the Old Rectory

	
	

	
	





Conservation Management Guidelines
Highways & Footpaths

	[image: A photo of  Low road]
            

	Along most lengths of the road, there is no formal footpath. Low Road is a busy thoroughfare and vehicles have eroded grass verges and broken tarmac edges, but road widening or kerbing the edges would have a harmful impact on the character of the area. One has been formed at the school, for obvious reasons, extending to St Peters Church and the bus shelter.
Should a case be made to extend the provision of paths, it would be better visually if they could be laid along the field side of the hedge.



 Front boundaries

	[image: A photo of a house with hedged front boundaries]
	Most of the front boundaries tend to be hedges and this is part of the natural rural character of the area. 

Their retention should be encouraged and any scope for new indigenous planting should be supported, subject to highway considerations.




Painting/colour washing buildings

	[image: A photo of a house displaying a light pastel finish]

	Some of the buildings are rendered or brick with a light colour pastel finish that sits comfortably with the historic character of the area.
With any redecoration, the colours should be chosen to maintain that pattern.




Appendix 1 (i)

Listed Buildings (All Grade II, except as noted)

Low Road (west side)	Clavers Cottage
	Church Farmhouse
	Barn west of Church Farmhouse
	Stone Cottage
	The Bishop's House and White House 
	Barn and Stables north-east of The Homestead
	Corner Farmhouse
	Laurels Farmhouse (Listed as 'Sunny Acres")

Low Road (east side)	Church of St. Peter (Grade 1)
                                                       War memorial
				The Old Rectory
				Nos. 1, 2 and 3 Rectory Cottages (Street Farmhouse
				Barn north-west of Street Farmhouse
				Rattles
				Church of St. Mary ( Grade 1)
                                  	War Memorial

Cheneys Lane                                	The Croft

Appendix 1 (ii)

Unlisted Buildings of townscape significance

Aslacton Road (east side)                	Forncett VA Primary School

Low Road (west side)	Former farm buildings south and west of Church Farmhouse
	Farm buildings west of Corner Farmhouse
	Farm buildings north of Laurels Farmhouse
	The Village Hall
		Forncett Manor

Low Road (east side)	Outbuildings north of The Old Rectory
	Wall to Street Farmhouse
	Blacksmith’s Cottage
	Church Cottage
	Barn north of Church Cottage

Cheneys Lane (south side)	Former farm buildings east of The Croft
	Outbuilding and Wall to Forncett Manor
		 


Appendix 2

Policy background

In recent years, the approach to conservation area designation has changed considerably. It is now recognised that development plan policies, development control decisions, and proposals for the preservation or enhancement and the management of conservation areas, can best be achieved when there is a sound understanding of the special interest of the conservation area.

This position is reinforced as follows:

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in section 66(1) makes it a duty of local authorities when considering applications to have special regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest. 

Under section 72 of the same Act, it is a duty with respect to any buildings or land in a conservation area, to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area. 

Department for Communities and Local Government. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018 Paragraphs 184 to 202 cover “Conserving and enhancing the historic environment”. 

Joint Core Strategy- Policy 2 : Promoting Good design South Norfolk Local Plan 

The South Norfolk Local Plan Development Management Policies Document was adopted in 2015 and policy 4.10 covers Heritage Assets.



Public Consultation

An informal ‘walkabout’ of the area was organised with the Parish Council on 24th January 2020. This informed the proposed boundary changes and the conservation management guidelines within the draft appraisal. The public consultation on the draft appraisal took place from 15th February to 15th March 2021, with attendance at the parish meeting on 18th February. Due to the Covid-19 Lockdown regulations the public meeting was carried out through virtual attendance at the parish council meeting online. The consultation and parish council meeting were advertised through: 

•   An advert in village notice board and local publicity by the parish council 
•   The draft appraisal being available to view on the council’s website. 
•   Emailing Ward Councillors, County Councillors, the Parish Council and Historic England. 
•   Contacting residents directly affected by the proposed boundary changes by letter informing them of the consequences of being included in the conservation area. 

As a result of the consultation corrections were made to the appraisal. The boundary to the south east of the school was adapted to only include buildings and the playground.

	
Appendix 3
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Forncett Conservation Area - Streetscape
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